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          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  We want to

          3  call the Committee on Fire and Criminal Justice

          4  Services of the City Council meeting to order.  Good

          5  morning.  My name is Miguel Martinez, and I am the

          6  Chair of the Fire and Criminal Justice Services

          7  Committee.

          8                 We're here this afternoon to conduct

          9  an Oversight Hearing regarding the New York City

         10  Fire Department's fire prevention and safety

         11  education efforts.  We will also be taking testimony

         12  on Intro 553 and 496.

         13                 Intro 553, which I am sponsoring,

         14  along with Speaker Quinn and Council Member Dilan,

         15  amends the Administrative Code in relation to

         16  alteration permits.  This bill will provide the Fire

         17  Department with notice when significant alteration

         18  projects are being undertaken.  It is important for

         19  firefighters who are responding to fires in

         20  buildings that are being altered to have as much

         21  information as possible, so that they can respond

         22  accordingly.

         23                 Intro 496, which is sponsored by

         24  Council Member Brewer, amends the Administrative

         25  Code in relation to granting the Fire Commissioner
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          2  the authority to promulgate rules regarding the

          3  owners of certain residential buildings to file

          4  floor plans with the Fire Department.  I understand

          5  that Council Member Brewer has also opening remarks

          6  regarding this proposal, which I will ask her to

          7  share in a moment.

          8                 With respect to the FDNY's fire

          9  safety and education effort, the Committee wants a

         10  detailed description of the subject matter being

         11  taught by the FDNY to firefighters and communities

         12  relating to fire prevention and safety education.

         13                 The Committee also wants to examine

         14  the FDNY's outreach to limited English proficiency

         15  communities and its effort to better educate

         16  communities about fire prevention.  The Committee

         17  wants to discuss the FDNY's enforcement efforts

         18  regarding the installation and operation of smoke

         19  detectors and fire escapes.

         20                 Finally, the Committee wants to

         21  review the goals of the Department regarding their

         22  prevention and safety efforts and to discuss how the

         23  Department intends to meet its goals.

         24                 We look forward to the testimony we

         25  are able to hear and to working collaboratively to
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          2  improve the safety of all of our constituents and

          3  for all first responders.

          4                 First, we will hear from Council

          5  Member Brewer about Intro 446 (sic), and then I ask

          6  the FDNY Chief of Operation, Patrick McNally, to

          7  deliver his testimony regarding both oversight topic

          8  and the two bills.  Once again, the Department has

          9  concluded its remarks.  We will discuss Intro 553

         10  and Intro 496.  Council Member Brewer?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

         12  very much, Chairman.  First, I would like to add my

         13  name as a co-sponsor to 553.  It's an excellent

         14  bill.  And in terms of 496, you described what it

         15  does, and I just want to mention a bit about the

         16  history, which is the following.

         17                 In my District at 322 West 57th

         18  Street, a tall building that is being renovated, and

         19  the Fire Department is very aware of it, and it is

         20  occupied by residents.  I think there are about 800

         21  units, and 150 or so are occupied.  The issue there

         22  is that during the construction or renovation, the

         23  owner of the building changed the floors, so that if

         24  you lived floor 24, you might now be on floor 30.

         25  The elevator was changed.  It's not clear to me at
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          2  what point the Fire Department was notified,

          3  certainly not when it was actually being done, and,

          4  of course, if you have stationery, you have always

          5  been on that particular floor, and now all of a

          6  sudden you're on a different floor.

          7                 So there are obviously issues

          8  regarding the residents, and then there are issues

          9  regarding the safety.    When do you notify the Fire

         10  Department?  That's one issue.

         11                 I think when that unfortunate,

         12  horrible incident of a plane hit an east side

         13  building, it's my understanding that from the Mayor

         14  on down, people were not clear at what floor the

         15  airplane had hit because the floor plan said one

         16  thing filed on record, and in reality it was a

         17  different thing.

         18                 I have no idea how many buildings

         19  this is true in, and I don't know how often these

         20  problems are brought to the attention of the Fire

         21  Department.  Obviously, when there's an emergency or

         22  some kind of an incident, that's when it becomes

         23  clear.

         24                 My issue, I guess, if I had my

         25  druthers, I would suggest that the building should
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          2  be one, two, three, just as is any common person

          3  would look up and see the floors, and they would be

          4  concurrent with what one would expect a floor to be.

          5

          6                 I know that owners who are renovating

          7  and who want to sell higher floors for more money,

          8  obviously try to fabricate to a large extent.  I was

          9  brought up with the 13th floor being a problem.  If

         10  I no idea if it's a still a problem for some people

         11  to go to the 13th floor.  I'm sure the Fire

         12  Department will discuss some of these issues, but at

         13  the very least I hope that my Intro 496 will be

         14  considered and passed in some way, shape or form,

         15  and certainly I do think that you could sell in this

         16  real estate market, or any real estate market, you

         17  can sell a good building on whatever floor, of

         18  whatever view or non- view is available.  You don't

         19  have to fabricate the number of the apartment and

         20  the number of the floor.  I think it's a particular

         21  concern for those living in a building to all of a

         22  sudden have to be on a different floor, not to

         23  mention the fact that the Fire Department has not

         24  always had the information.

         25                 So I look forward to the discussion,
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          2  and I thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you,

          4  Council Member. Can we just start the testimony from

          5  the Chief?  Chief, you have to make sure the light

          6  is off.

          7                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Good afternoon,

          8  Chairman Martinez and Committee Members.  My name is

          9  Patrick McNally.  I am the Chief of Operations for

         10  the New York City Fire Department.  Joining me today

         11  is Julian Bazel, the Fire Department's legal

         12  counsel.

         13                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         14  speak with you today about two bills, Intro 496 and

         15  553.  We support the intent of both bills, but

         16  believe that changes to the text of each would

         17  improve their efforts on fire safety in the City.

         18                 I am also pleased to have the

         19  opportunity to discuss briefly our ongoing Fire Code

         20  revision, as well as FDNY fire prevention and fire

         21  safety initiatives.

         22                 Intro 496 authorizes the FDNY to

         23  promulgate rules requiring the owners of buildings

         24  in occupancy group J- 2 to file floor plans with the

         25  FDNY.  These floor plans must reflect the current
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          2  numbering of all dwelling units on each floor of the

          3  building.  The FDNY supports the intent of this bill

          4  and believes it will facilitate our operations at

          5  fires, medical emergencies and other incidents.

          6                 However, we would go further and have

          7  the City Council enact legislation that requires the

          8  establishment of a protocol with respect to the

          9  numbering of floors to ensure that floors are

         10  numbered consecutively.  This would more directly

         11  address the problems experienced at the scene of the

         12  Cory Lidle plane crash last fall.  As you may know,

         13  when we responded that day to the building fire that

         14  resulted from the plane crash, we discovered that

         15  the actual floor levels varied from the floor

         16  designations.  This can impact our ability to

         17  respond to a high rise, and we have seen this

         18  misnumbering of floors with some frequency in recent

         19  years.

         20                 In addition, we have concerns about

         21  the timing, language and breadth of this bill.

         22  First, the FDNY is currently working on a long- term

         23  project with the City's Department of Buildings that

         24  shares the legislation's goal of augmenting the

         25  sharing of information between City agencies.  The
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          2  joint DOB- FDNY initiative is looking to, among

          3  other things, enable the FDNY to receive

          4  electronically and automatically floor plans and

          5  other documents that are filed with DOB and to

          6  establish a digital blueprint repository.

          7                 In light of our inter- agency efforts

          8  in this regard, we prefer that a longer

          9  implementation period be incorporated into the

         10  language of the bill.

         11                 We also believe it makes more sense

         12  for the bill to require building owners to file

         13  building plans with DOB, which will then transmit

         14  this information to the FDNY.

         15                 Second, the City has thousands of

         16  buildings that are categorized as J- 2, or

         17  residential apartment buildings.  After discussions

         18  with DOB, both agencies agree that it is not

         19  necessary to include all J- 2 buildings in the

         20  proposed legislation.  Rather, both agencies would

         21  prefer that we jointly decide what categories of

         22  buildings within the J- 2 occupancy group should be

         23  subject to this bill, and that this decision making

         24  be done in the context of the ruling- making process

         25  contemplated by this law.
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          2                 Lastly, DOB and FDNY agree that we

          3  want the law to require electronic filings with DOB

          4  to entirely automate the process and eliminate the

          5  burden of voluminous paper filings.

          6                 Intro 553 requires that DOB notify

          7  the FDNY of any permits affecting a building's

          8  Certificate of Occupancy. Specifically, the bill

          9  prohibits the DOB from issuing a permit for any

         10  alteration that requires issuance of an amended or

         11  new C of O unless DOB has notified the FDNY first

         12  that the permit will be issued.  We support the

         13  intent of this legislation.  The law would

         14  facilitate our efforts to stay on top of changes in

         15  occupancy that may warrant the re- inspection of a

         16  building.  For example, if the FDNY is apprised of a

         17  change to a building that means the building would

         18  now need to be sprinklered, we can schedule a re-

         19  inspection of that building at the appropriate time

         20  to ensure compliance with the prevailing sprinkler

         21  requirements.

         22                 We have two suggestions for improving

         23  this legislation.  First, as with Intro 496, we

         24  would like the bill to require electronic

         25  transmission of the permit information from DOB to
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          2  FDNY.  Second, the language is somewhat unclear

          3  about the timing of DOB's notification to FDNY.  In

          4  some instances, DOB now notifies the FDNY prior to

          5  the issuance of a permit that affects a building's C

          6  of O, for example, fire alarm and fire protection

          7  plans.  We would not want that to change.  But in

          8  other instances, DOB could notify FDNY after or

          9  simultaneous with the permit issuance because FDNY

         10  approval is not necessary.  The language of the law

         11  should be amended to delineate and clarify these

         12  timing issues.

         13                 The Fire Department would be happy to

         14  continue a dialogue with the Council on both of

         15  these bills, which we support in principle but

         16  believe should be improved and adapted to better

         17  meet our needs and those of the public.

         18                 Turning to the oversight topics of

         19  this Hearing, I will now update the Committee on the

         20  Department's Fire Code revision efforts.

         21                 As you may know, the City is in the

         22  process of revising both the Building Code and the

         23  Fire Prevention Code.  The FDNY has been an active

         24  participant with DOB and the Building Code revision

         25  process and has assigned 15 chiefs to the Technical
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          2  Committees established by the DOB.

          3                 Our concern has been to ensure the

          4  Building Code serves to protect the safety of the

          5  public and our firefighters. We met this week with

          6  Building Commissioner Patricia Lancaster to discuss

          7  Building Code revision.  That process is now nearing

          8  its culmination, and DOB is poised to introduce

          9  legislation.  We think that the new Building Code

         10  will enhance public safety beyond that required by

         11  current law.

         12                 For its part, the Fire Department has

         13  been actively pursuing the parallel process of

         14  modernizing the Fire Code and has made substantial

         15  progress towards its completion.  The City's Fire

         16  Code has never undergone comprehensive revisions

         17  since it was first adopted in 1913.  The FDNY

         18  commenced its Fire Code revision project in 2004 to

         19  review and propose New York City amendments to the

         20  International Fire Code of the International Code

         21  Council's model codes.  As we explained at prior

         22  City Council hearings, the IFC is part and parcel of

         23  the model construction codes that DOB has proposed

         24  to adopt.  It is organized similarly, uses similar

         25  terminology and is intensively cross- referenced

                                                            14

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  with the construction codes.

          3                 The FDNY has made substantial

          4  progress in reviewing and revising the IFC to the

          5  point where we can begin to foresee an end to the

          6  process.  The Technical Committees completed their

          7  review in 2006 and, since then, the Department has

          8  circulated approximately three- quarters of the IFC

          9  chapters to our Managing Committee, including

         10  Council representatives, an Advisory Committee

         11  consisting of a wide variety of real estate,

         12  building management, professional, trade and union

         13  organizations.  Our staff has been working

         14  intensively on finalizing the remaining chapters,

         15  and we now anticipate distributing drafts of those

         16  chapters to the Managing Committee later this month.

         17                 We have been in touch with the

         18  Committee's staff with respect to a Managing

         19  Committee meeting to be held in late April or early

         20  May at which time we will brief the representatives

         21  of the Council, DOB and the Law Department on the

         22  final chapters, discuss the status of the project,

         23  and map out a strategy for introducing Fire Code

         24  revision legislation.

         25                 As with previous chapters, the
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          2  Managing Committee and Advisory Committee will

          3  review and comment on the final chapters.  Revised

          4  drafts will then be sent to the City's Law

          5  Department for review.  The Law Department has

          6  largely completed its initial review of the

          7  previously distributed IFC chapters, and we, in

          8  turn, have been revising the drafts in response to

          9  their comments.

         10                 Our goal is to enact Fire Code

         11  revision legislation later this year so that the new

         12  Fire Code takes effect on the same date in 2008 as

         13  the new City Building Code.  This will avoid public

         14  confusion and any gaps that might result from

         15  different effective dates.

         16                 We are confident that the new Fire

         17  Code will ensure a higher level of public safety

         18  than before.  We appreciate the Chair and his

         19  staff's cooperation and patience while we carry out

         20  this important and much needed initiative.  We look

         21  forward to our continued collaboration on this

         22  project.

         23                 Finally, I would like to highlight

         24  some of the Department's recent initiatives and

         25  accomplishments in the fire safety education and
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          2  fire prevention.

          3                 Earlier this year, the FDNY issued

          4  its second strategic plan, which builds on the

          5  foundation of our first plan and maps out our top

          6  priorities and initiatives for 2007 and 2008. As

          7  with the previous strategic plan, one of our five

          8  key goal areas is fire prevention and safety

          9  education.

         10                 The first strategic plan called for

         11  the establishment of emergency action plan

         12  requirements for non- fire emergencies in high rise

         13  buildings.  Following the enactment of Local Law 26

         14  of 2004, requiring that such plans be prepared and

         15  filed with the FDNY, our Department hired staff and

         16  promulgated rules and procedures for the filing and

         17  review of these plans.

         18                 The rules and procedures went into

         19  effect last August, and the Department began

         20  receiving plans for review.  We have received and

         21  accepted the EAP's for some buildings.  For some

         22  others with complex structures and occupancies, the

         23  Department has requested additional information or

         24  other changes, and continues to work with the

         25  building representatives to ensure the comprehensive

                                                            17

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  plans are in place as soon as possible.

          3                 Overall, we are pleased with our

          4  progress and appreciate the cooperation we have

          5  received from building representatives throughout

          6  the City.  Although the concept of EAP's is in its

          7  infancy, we believe that Local Law 26 and the Fire

          8  Department rules have already had the salutary

          9  effect of focusing owners of high rise office

         10  buildings on the need to educate and train their

         11  staffs on the risks presented from a variety of non

         12  fire emergencies and to develop strategies to

         13  respond to those emergencies.  The rule requires EAP

         14  drills for building staff and building occupants,

         15  and these drills have begun to educate occupants of

         16  office buildings on the different actions that might

         17  be implemented depending on the nature of the

         18  emergency.

         19                 In the area of fire safety, we met

         20  the first strategic plan's objective of integrating

         21  fire prevention and fire safety education projects

         22  to ensure that educational messages reach

         23  communities most at risk.  From 2004 to 2005, the

         24  Department increased the number of fire safety

         25  education events by 83 percent. From 2005 to 2006 we
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          2  increased the number of fire safety presentations by

          3  almost 160 percent from 3,244 to 8,622.

          4                 Events generally target the City's

          5  highest risk communities, as well as areas that have

          6  experienced particularly serious fires or a fire

          7  fatality.  Fire safety material have been translated

          8  into 10 languages, and fire companies throughout the

          9  City participate in Operation Sidewalk events, an

         10  initiative to distribute fire safety material at a

         11  variety of community events.

         12                 The second strategic plan will build

         13  on these successes.  We will continue to work with

         14  high rise building's representatives to put into

         15  operation completed EAP's.  We will also continue to

         16  integrate fire prevention and community safety

         17  education programs and expand the message to include

         18  other relevant safety topics.

         19                 In 2006, we experienced one of the

         20  lowest numbers of civilian fire fatalities in almost

         21  a century and the third lowest single year fatality

         22  total since the Department began keeping records in

         23  1916.  Over the past five years we have sustained

         24  the lowest average number of civilian fire

         25  fatalities on record, averaging 98 per year.
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          2                 These are encouraging statistics.

          3  However, the March 7th fire in the Bronx that took

          4  the lives of 10 people is a tragic reminder that we

          5  must remain vigilant in our efforts to prevent such

          6  tragedies.  In the days leading up to the March 7th

          7  fire, the FDNY's fire safety education unit

          8  distributed more than 20,000 batteries at transit

          9  hubs throughout the City, including the Grand

         10  Concourse at 149th Street in the Bronx.  This effort

         11  was part of our Daylight Savings Time battery and

         12  smoker detector giveaway program.  In the immediate

         13  aftermath of the Bronx fire, our fire safety

         14  educators expanded this effort and set out to

         15  blanket neighborhoods throughout the City with more

         16  than 100,000 smoker detector batteries.  We are

         17  still in the process of doing that.

         18                 In our continuing mission to raise

         19  awareness and save lives, we have dramatically

         20  increased and enhanced our fire safety education

         21  programs over the last several years.  Our

         22  partnership with the FDNY Foundation, the non-profit

         23  group that supports many FDNY initiatives and fire

         24  safety-related programs, has enabled us to conduct

         25  these important educational programs.  In fact, the
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          2  Foundation donated the nine volt batteries we are

          3  distributing.

          4                 We are also working on an enhanced

          5  public/private initiative that we hope will provide

          6  additional fire safety education funding in 2008.

          7                 Together, these efforts have improved

          8  and will continue to improve fire safety.  We

          9  encourage all New Yorkers to take advantage of the

         10  resources of our Fire Safety Education Unit

         11  provides, and to educate themselves on the steps

         12  they could take to protect themselves and their

         13  families.

         14                 The Department is also cooperating

         15  with the DOB to increase the effectiveness of our

         16  field inspections.  A joint FDNY DOB pilot

         17  inspection program was launched in the FDNY Division

         18  7 in the Bronx after the 2006 Walton Avenue fire in

         19  which FDNY Lieutenant Howard Carpluk and firefighter

         20  Michael Reilly were killed.

         21                 The purpose of this pilot program is

         22  to provide faster, more accurate follow up on the

         23  most serious fire and Building Code violations.

         24  When an FDNY unit finds a serious violation during a

         25  routine inspection, the unit can send a high
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          2  priority referral report, along with digital

          3  photographs of the violation, to the DOB Bronx

          4  Borough office.  In response, a team composed of a

          5  DOB and an FDNY representative will conduct a full

          6  inspection of the building within eight days.

          7                 This pilot provides improved

          8  communication between FDNY and DOB through the use

          9  of instantly accessible technology. It has been

         10  highly successful and was recently expanded to the

         11  FDNY Division Six.  We are planning to launch this

         12  citywide in the future.

         13                 Everyone knows that the Fire

         14  Department responds to fire and medical emergencies.

         15    Fire prevention and fire safety education are also

         16  essential elements of the Department's mission. We

         17  ensure that buildings citywide are safer through

         18  inspections and enforcement of laws and regulations.

         19    Our fire safety education personnel provide

         20  programs to educate the public about safeguarding

         21  their homes, families and friends from fire and

         22  other hazards.

         23                 We thank this Committee for focusing

         24  attention on our Department's effort in these areas.

         25    We are proud of our accomplishments and will
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          2  continue our commitment to prevent tragedies like

          3  the Bronx fire where 10 residents died and the 2006

          4  fire where two of our members died from ever

          5  happening again. Thank you for the opportunity to

          6  speak with you today.  I would be happy to answer

          7  your questions at this time.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you,

          9  Chief.  At this time I just want to recognize some

         10  of the Committee members that have joined us since

         11  we started the Hearing.  We are joined by Council

         12  Member Eric Gioia, who is here, Council Member Jimmy

         13  Vacca, who is here to my right, Council Member

         14  Addabbo to my left, Council Member Hiram Monserrate,

         15  and Council Member Tony Avella has also joined us in

         16  the Hearing.

         17                 I'll turn to Council Member Brewer.

         18  She has several questions in reference to 449.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

         20  very much, Mr. Chairman.  I think my question to you

         21  is, first of all, thank you for your testimony, and

         22  we're certainly willing to change, I would be, in

         23  terms of what your suggestions are.  I do chair the

         24  Technology Committee, so I'm delighted to know that

         25  electronic will work, but I guess I wanted to
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          2  understand the capacity possibilities for the

          3  electronic transmission, both for this bill and the

          4  one sponsored by Council Member Martinez.  In other

          5  words, electronic capacity is there because there's

          6  a lot of --

          7                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  A lot of what we're

          8  doing is still being developed.  We are working with

          9  DOB.  I would have to say at this point we are

         10  probably not prepared to accept and use all of these

         11  plans at this time.  The intent is, I think the

         12  Committee has been briefed on the electronic command

         13  board in the past.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Yes.

         15                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  The intent would be

         16  that the information gathered on these plans would

         17  then be transmitted to the electronic command board

         18  at the scene of a fire, and that information would

         19  then be relayed to our operation center at

         20  headquarters.  Ultimately, I can envision that

         21  things like these plans could even be on the

         22  computer in the rig on the way to a scene of an

         23  incident.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  That

         25  hopefully when the wireless program is totally in
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          2  operation.

          3                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Do you have

          5  some sense of the timing even of the first portion

          6  of what you discussed?

          7                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  No, the Department's

          8  Bureau of Fire Prevention and the Department of

          9  Buildings have been meeting on a regular basis.  I

         10  can get that information for you as far as the

         11  timeframe, but again, the technology is not quite

         12  there right now.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  And do you

         14  have some sense as to the numbers of buildings that

         15  either in place or in conversion are changing the

         16  way in which they are numbering the floors?

         17                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  No, my evidence has

         18  only been anecdotal like ours.  We don't have an

         19  absolute number.  Perhaps DOB could furnish that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  When

         21  you say a longer implementation period be

         22  incorporated into the language of the bill, I think

         23  it obviously makes sense.  Can you just explain why

         24  you need that?

         25                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  I think it's so that
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          2  the technology issues can be addressed.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  Thank

          4  you very much, Mr. Chair.

          5                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you.  In

          7  reference to 553, I just want to ask in reference to

          8  the intent of the bill.  I just want to hear it

          9  again, but do you believe that it would be helpful

         10  for firefighters responding to fires to know if any

         11  alteration is being done to the building before

         12  responding?

         13                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Absolutely.  The more

         14  information we can give the incident commander, the

         15  better off we are.  Most of our fires are routine in

         16  nature, but when we are given a situation where

         17  there's a building construction alteration, things

         18  like that, anything that we can get would be

         19  helpful.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  And can you

         21  tell me about currently the system that we have now,

         22  does it provide firefighters with that information

         23  currently?

         24                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  We have what we call

         25  a CID system, which is a Critical Information
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          2  Dispatch system.  When the local companies do their

          3  building inspection, and they come upon construction

          4  features that need to be identified and the

          5  information needs to be expanded to the other units,

          6  we have a way of putting that information into the

          7  first information that we get when we get the ticket

          8  for the run.  So if there had been alteration, or

          9  they're using materials that we're afraid of that

         10  are new, and they noticed it while they were doing a

         11  building inspection, that information goes on the

         12  CIDs card, and the first responders are made aware

         13  of that as they are responding.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  I want to

         15  thank you for your testimony, but I also want to say

         16  thanks for sharing clearly the efforts and steps

         17  that the Department has taken to address the need to

         18  have this information available to the Fire

         19  Department.  But when we say that, how does that

         20  translate to the responders?  How would they have

         21  access to that information?

         22                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  The incident

         23  commander will eventually get it through the

         24  electronic command board.  What will happen

         25  eventually --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  When it's up

          3  and running?

          4                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Yes.  What will

          5  happen is, the City is in the process now of sharing

          6  all their databases.  DOB shares with us.  We share

          7  with them.  DEP shares, so eventually you will have

          8  a system where it will be address driven.  The

          9  address of the building will come up.  Somebody

         10  through an operation center would be able to view

         11  who has what accounts in what different agencies,

         12  but also those plans even eventually would be

         13  accessible to the unit, the incident commander at

         14  the scene.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  I just want to

         16  state that, when we experienced the loss of two

         17  firefighters in the Bronx responding to a fire where

         18  there was alteration to the commercial space

         19  establishment that was there, and when we looked at

         20  the structure and the building, you could clearly

         21  tell that there was alteration made to the building.

         22    It's a common practice sometimes. Many

         23  irresponsible owners that they would subdivide a

         24  large space and sometimes not put the appropriate

         25  material.  In this case, this was the floor in
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          2  addition to putting up additional walls without

          3  having the appropriate beams and so forth.

          4                 Clearly, I think that the need to

          5  ensure that whenever the firefighters are responding

          6  to a fire, they have all the information, both in

          7  residential.  We had the incidents where we had

          8  firefighters having to jump out of a window because

          9  when they went in there, they found themselves that

         10  the apartment was subdivided into multiple rooms,

         11  and that created a situation.

         12                 So, as Council Member Brewer

         13  mentioned, I also look forward to continued

         14  discussion with you in addressing the items that you

         15  highlighted in your testimony that would absolutely

         16  serve the bill to meet the goals of ensuring the

         17  safety of our firefighters when responding.

         18                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  If I could expand a

         19  little bit. What we have now through this data

         20  sharing.  Two ways it can be effective.  The

         21  companies when they go out and do their normal

         22  building inspection, now we have access to the

         23  Department of Building's website.  So you know

         24  you're going to do, say, five or six buildings that

         25  afternoon.  You can pull those addresses up in the
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          2  firehouse on our computers, and now we know whether

          3  any permits issued for construction, demolition.

          4  Was there any enforcement action taken by the

          5  Department of Buildings?  So we're sharing that

          6  information before we even go out to do our

          7  inspections.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  That's not

          9  with a handheld. That's in the firehouse, right?

         10                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  That's correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  So the

         12  handheld only comes when the wireless comes?

         13                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Eventually, yes.

         14  That's why we're working.  The other issue, what

         15  we're using in the Seven Division largely and

         16  expanding to the Six, what we've done now with these

         17  taxpayers similar to the Walton Avenue fire, we had

         18  a taskforce formed.  The units go out, and when they

         19  see something that even just doesn't look right,

         20  they're not all engineers, they call the Fire Chief

         21  to the scene.  He has a digital camera, he takes a

         22  picture.  We then scan that to the Department of

         23  Buildings for their engineers to look at, and how

         24  they know what they're coming for.  They know it's

         25  not a wild goose chase.  They come with firefighters
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          2  and the Department of Building inspectors, and we

          3  get a much better response, and the violations are

          4  issued.  They know what they're doing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Let me ask

          6  you, before we go into the oversight topic, on that

          7  particular issue in terms of inspection, as you

          8  mentioned, the bill will, in turn, enable the

          9  Department to go back and re- inspect and either

         10  make a determination if sprinkler systems are

         11  needed?  What other items do you look for when you

         12  go and do an inspection from the perspective of the

         13  Fire Department?

         14                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  The housing base and

         15  the construction base of the City, as you know, is

         16  fairly old, so some of these taxpayers that we're

         17  talking about they could be 85 or 100 years old.  So

         18  given the ability of the units to go in and into the

         19  basements and working with the Department of

         20  Buildings and seeing things like what happened in

         21  the Walton Avenue fire, rot in the columns and

         22  things like that, those are the kind of things we're

         23  looking for.  Some of them are obvious, some of them

         24  aren't, but working with Buildings it's performing

         25  good team work.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  But the

          3  Department has the authority to go in there, do an

          4  inspection currently now, and will they have it with

          5  the bill?

          6                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Yes, we normally --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  No, the

          8  question would be, would the Department have the

          9  authority to go in there and do an inspection, look

         10  at issue of structure and make a determination the

         11  Fire Department in shutting down the establishment?

         12                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Absolutely.  Some of

         13  the things that the firefighters found in the

         14  Division Seven cause is to vacate a few premises

         15  immediately, same day.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you,

         17  Chief.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Can I just

         19  ask you about, what is the status of the database?

         20  I do remember a few years ago I asked if you have a

         21  hardware store and you have paint, you know, it's

         22  supposed to be sealed in a certain way, City Council

         23  law.  But there was not ability for Fire to know

         24  that or Buildings to know that because the databases

         25  could not be shared.  Has that changed?
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          2                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  They're

          3  intermittently working on that right now.  It's not

          4  completed yet, but they've been working on that for

          5  over a year.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  So that

          7  obviously would help.

          8                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  That's the kind of

          9  stuff we're talking about, right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  Thank

         11  you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Council Member

         13  Vacca, your question related to the oversight topic

         14  or any of the two bills? I will start the

         15  questioning on the oversight topic.  Council Member

         16  Vacca?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Thank you.

         18  Let me ask you several questions.  When the

         19  Buildings Department determines that something is

         20  not up to code, what role do you play?  Do they make

         21  a referral to you?  Or do you --

         22                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  We make referrals

         23  back and forth to each other.  If we find it, we

         24  refer it to them if it's not under our jurisdiction.

         25    If they find something that's under our
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          2  jurisdiction, they would notify us.  In some

          3  instances, we act as an agent for the Building

          4  Department under the Building Code.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  So, therefore,

          6  if there was something under construction that may

          7  not be up to Code, you would also inspect as well as

          8  the Buildings Department based on where the request

          9  came from?

         10                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Right, but in most of

         11  those cases it's the Buildings Department function.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  All right.

         13  They would refer to you.

         14                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Evacuation

         16  plans.  Have any high rise developments in our City

         17  given evacuation plans to you?

         18                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  We have received over

         19  600 plans as of this date, and we're in the process

         20  of approving them, inspecting them and going through

         21  them.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  You have to

         23  approve those plans?

         24                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Or you make
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          2  recommendations to revise them?

          3                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Yes, when they are

          4  lacking information that was required by the law, we

          5  send them back sometimes for more information.

          6  We're in the process of doing that right now.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Okay.  Just to

          8  single out the largest housing development in the

          9  City, Co-op City, have they submitted a plan to you?

         10                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Co-op City would not

         11  be required because it's residential.  The law calls

         12  for commercial occupancies, high rise E buildings,

         13  office buildings.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  All right.

         15  Residential buildings are not required by law?

         16                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Not at this time, no.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Okay.  I

         18  wanted to talk about educating youth insomuch as

         19  fire prevention is concerned.  I know it's been an

         20  aim of your agency.  What are we doing in schools

         21  with the Department of Education to get our youth

         22  educated on fire prevention?

         23                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  We're working on a

         24  program that would have one day a year dedicated to

         25  that through the Fire Safety Education Fund.  We
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          2  also go to health fairs and job fairs and things

          3  like, distribute information.  The information that

          4  we're talking about is in a brochure form.  There's

          5  about 20 subjects. We provide 10 languages, but we

          6  can provide any language that's requested.  If we

          7  have a little lead time, we translate.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  So schools

          9  should be reaching out to your Division, and you

         10  have this information for them?

         11                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Absolutely, yes,

         12  right.  Absolutely.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  And just one

         14  last question. If a high rised, residential

         15  development wants your technical assistance in

         16  developing an evacuation plan, do you have people

         17  there giving technical assistance on a voluntary

         18  basis to those?

         19                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Not at this time, but

         20  we could if we were approached.  But at this time,

         21  the law only requires high rise commercial.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  I see a need

         23  in residential also with those especially who are

         24  physically handicapped who are frail, who really

         25  have mobility issues.
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          2                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  We also have, as I

          3  explained through the CIDs program, we can identify

          4  individual apartments and individual people that we

          5  can then give the first responders the information.

          6  For instance, disabled person on the 14th floor.  We

          7  can do it through that system as well.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Okay.  Thank

          9  you, Chief.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you.

         11  Chief, how do you inspect -- what's the process for

         12  inspecting fire escapes?

         13                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  The fire escape

         14  inspection is part of the regular inspection that

         15  the local fire company performs when they do

         16  building inspections.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  For example,

         18  in the recent fire in the Bronx, there were rumors,

         19  and tenants complained that they had to jump from

         20  the first floor, second floor because the fire

         21  escape was not functioning.

         22                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  When the company goes

         23  out to do the inspection, they check things like the

         24  bulkhead door at the top of the stairs.  They check

         25  the boiler room.  They check that there's no trash
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          2  in the hallway, nobody's maybe put a refrigerator

          3  out in the hallway that would cause a problem with

          4  egress.  But they also check the fire escape for

          5  stability, rust, things like that, and they would

          6  make a notation and give them a violation if they

          7  thought that was necessary.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  But is it the

          9  sole responsibility of the Fire Department to

         10  conduct the fire escape inspection?

         11                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  As far as I know.  I

         12  don't believe DOB does that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  That's not

         14  part of the DOB inspection?

         15                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  You check with them,

         16  but I don't believe they do.

         17                 MR. BAZEL:  DOB inspections are

         18  generally more complaint driven rather than just

         19  periodic, routine inspections.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Do you know

         21  how often are fire escape inspections conducted?

         22                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  It would depend on

         23  the occupancy of the building, the occupancy code.

         24  We perform nearly 60,000 inspections through the

         25  local fire companies yearly, many of them in
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          2  multiple dwellings.  That's the bulk of it.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  And the fire

          4  alarms?  Fire detector?

          5                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  The fire alarms are

          6  inspected initially when they are installed, and

          7  then it's incumbent on the person who holds the

          8  certificate of fitness to conduct a daily test, and

          9  I believe there's a monthly function to that test as

         10  well.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  And that's

         12  done by the Fire Department also?

         13                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  We check.  If we were

         14  to go into a building that had an interior alarm, we

         15  would then ask to see the certificate of the person

         16  who is responsible for it and to see that it's up to

         17  date.  Then we would ask him, are you conducting

         18  drills? Are you performing your daily tests?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  What's the

         20  process for the detectors in the individual

         21  apartments?

         22                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  The detectors are not

         23  tested, per se, individually, no.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  No, not so

         25  much tested, but ensuring that the owner is
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          2  complying with --

          3                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  You mean smoke

          4  detectors like in a multiple dwelling?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Correct.

          6                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  It's incumbent on the

          7  occupant of the apartment, and the landlord is

          8  incumbent to give them the detector initially.  I

          9  believe they can charge them a fee for the first

         10  year, but then once the detector is in the

         11  apartment, it's the responsibility of the occupant.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  And no City

         13  agency is responsible for inspecting that every

         14  apartment, every unit, is supplied with a fire

         15  detector?

         16                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Not to my knowledge,

         17  no.

         18                 MR. BAZEL:   Again, I would just say

         19  that complaints may be made in a multiple dwelling

         20  to the Department of Housing Preservation

         21  Development if there was something missing or not

         22  working, but as the Chief indicated, that smoke

         23  detectors, the maintenance of them where they're not

         24  a part of the building system, are supposed to be

         25  maintained by the occupant.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  And you just

          3  stated in reference to Council Member Vacca's

          4  questioning of the residential, in terms of having

          5  an evacuation plan, a safety plan, that's not

          6  required by law?

          7                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  No, that was not part

          8  of the Local Law 26, no.  Local Law 26 addressed

          9  high rise buildings.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  I mention that

         11  because my landlord, my owner, recently on our doors

         12  on the inside of the door, actually pasted an

         13  evacuation safety plan.  Is it because he's one of

         14  the good guys?  He's not required to do this?

         15                 MR. BAZEL:  It's an HPD requirement.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  By the way,

         17  this was after the fatal fires we had, so I was

         18  wondering if something happened.

         19                 MR. BAZEL:  No, actually, you're

         20  talking about Local Law 10 of 1999, which required

         21  sprinklers in multiple dwellings. Residential

         22  multiple dwellings also required the distribution of

         23  what's called a fire safety plan and the posting of

         24  fire safety notices inside the unit and in the

         25  lobby.

                                                            41

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 That was intended in a general way to

          3  inform building occupants as to the types of systems

          4  in the building, whether there is a sprinkler,

          5  whether there is a fire alarm system. It required

          6  that they disclose all the means of egress and where

          7  they exited from the building.

          8                 It contained general material

          9  describing what to do in the event of fire, which

         10  actually the Fire Department promulgated as part of

         11  the rule.  And the owners were required to circulate

         12  with information specific to their own buildings.

         13                 That is informational and was

         14  intended to provide guidance to people in a fire

         15  when they may panic, especially if it's on their

         16  door.  They can look at it and say, okay, what

         17  should I do?  But that is not what we would consider

         18  the EAP plan.  The fire safety plans that are for

         19  office buildings are much more detailed plans that

         20  actually have scenarios and arrangements.  But, of

         21  course, in office buildings you have extensive

         22  building staff that can take direction of

         23  evacuations, whereas in the residential buildings

         24  they may or may not have that kind of staff.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  In terms of
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          2  the smoke detectors, is there any collaboration?

          3  First of all, do you know if HPD is required or was

          4  their role in inspecting that detectors are working,

          5  and that they are actual --

          6                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  When the law was

          7  established, I believe it was in the early '80's,

          8  maybe '81, there was no provisions for inspection as

          9  far as I know.  Again, it was detailed who had to

         10  purchase it, then who had to maintain it.  So when

         11  you have, say, if we discover a battery's missing,

         12  or whatever, that's the responsibility of the

         13  occupant.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Is there any

         15  collaboration between HPD since it's the H that does

         16  most of the inspection in multiple dwelling and

         17  residential, any collaboration between HPD in terms

         18  of fire prevention?

         19                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  We would refer it

         20  where we see that it's missing.  We have a provision

         21  to do that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  I'm sorry, you

         23  would what?

         24                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  We would refer it to

         25  that agency when we see it.  If we're in the
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          2  building, if we say, had a fire fatality, we always

          3  check, were there smoke detectors there?  Were they

          4  working?  If we found that they weren't, then we

          5  would refer that to HPD.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  When you look

          7  at the link that connect the fatal fires we've had

          8  recently, they all have one common denominator, and

          9  that is a non- functioning smoke detector in the

         10  apartment at the time.

         11                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  HPD having the

         13  responsibility of doing most of the inspection in

         14  multiple dwellings and looking at issues from

         15  structural, well, Building does structural safety

         16  also.  But looking at issue of inspections inside

         17  the apartment and outside the apartment, at that

         18  point it would be interesting to look at that Local

         19  Law and what requirements in terms of the smoke

         20  detectors.

         21                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  I think you'll find

         22  that almost all the enforcement activity takes place

         23  in the common areas, the hallways, the stairs, the

         24  lobbies, the boiler rooms.  I don't know of any

         25  agency that's entering anybody's apartment.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  HPD, they go

          3  into individual's apartment, and they conduct --

          4                 CHAIR MCNALLY:  On a complaint basis

          5  or as normal inspections?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  If you call in

          7  an inspector as a resident because you have mold or

          8  whatever issues you have inside your apartment, that

          9  inspector at that time conducts the inspection of

         10  the entire, and actually Council Member Brewer was a

         11  prior sponsor of a Council initiative in

         12  collaboration with HPD called the Top to Bottom,

         13  right Council Member Brewer?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Where all

         16  these issues were looked at, and in the complaint

         17  form that tenants usually filled out to register a

         18  complaint, by room in their room, one of the issues

         19  that are highlighted is whether you have a

         20  functioning, or whether you have one or not, smoke

         21  detector in the apartment.

         22                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  That might be an

         23  avenue that we might want to go after as far as

         24  sharing data again.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  In terms of
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          2  sharing data, and I understand that part of your

          3  testimony you mentioned that you would need more

          4  time for implementation to get the technology

          5  available for the sharing of data.  How fast do you

          6  get information from Buildings Department now

          7  currently having to do with structural issues of a

          8  building?

          9                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  The cooperation is

         10  very good.  When we have a fire, say, this morning

         11  if we had a fire, I can pull up on the screen in the

         12  operations center the latest Department of Building

         13  inspection.  I can get a profile of the building,

         14  and I can get that information to the incident

         15  commander if I have to, but we don't have plans yet,

         16  no.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  In the area of

         18  the non English speaking communities and the

         19  outreach to those communities, can you just describe

         20  that?  I know you mentioned that you have brochures

         21  and information in different various languages.

         22                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  The brochures are in,

         23  like I said, 10 languages, but working with the

         24  community, we'll take information from anybody.

         25  We'll go to a block party.  We'll go to a street
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          2  fair.  We'll go anywhere anybody is gathering, and

          3  we can provide them with enough, if we have a little

          4  lead time, in any language they need.  We've been

          5  able to do Sabbath observance brochures in Yiddish.

          6  We can provide any language that's out there.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  I want to

          8  thank the Department because in the Town Hall

          9  meetings I conducted in my district we had the

         10  Department present giving out the batteries that

         11  were made available through the Foundation.  But

         12  there seems to me something missing in terms of, I

         13  don't know what it is.

         14                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Well, the batteries

         15  are distributed in an envelope with a fire safety

         16  message on both sides about replacing them and

         17  things like that.  These brochures, although they're

         18  somewhat limited, they're very valuable.  We're

         19  trying to target, you know, the City has a large

         20  immigrant population, and we're trying to address

         21  that.  Through any group that comes to us, we can

         22  convert this into the proper language.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Is there a

         24  specific unit, and how big is that unit?

         25                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  It's the Fire Safety
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          2  Education Unit. I don't have the exact number of

          3  people.  It's probably about 20. We also use

          4  retirees that we bring in.  For instance, at the

          5  Woody Crest fire, we would bring in retirees the

          6  next day, the next say, 24, 26, 48 hours, to

          7  distribute information throughout the neighborhood

          8  while it was still timely.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Is that the

         10  high fire risk unit that goes out there?

         11                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Yes, right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  So it's made

         13  up of both fire and retirees?

         14                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Active and retired

         15  members, right.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Can you

         17  describe that?

         18                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  In other words, let's

         19  say we had an incident where unfortunately children

         20  were playing with matches or candles or whatever.

         21  We would then go out with the brochures that are

         22  directed to those types of fires and distribute the

         23  information.  We would hit transit hubs, shopping

         24  centers.  We actually then would even go into the

         25  building where it occurred. The local company would
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          2  also conduct a fatal fire campaign and distribute

          3  literature as well.  But they would actually go

          4  right into the building where it occurred, knock on

          5  doors, do you know about this?  Can we make you

          6  aware of this?  Things like that.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  You mentioned

          8  the high rise buildings.  How many of them fall

          9  under the Local Law 26?

         10                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Approximately 1,200.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  1,200?

         12                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Throughout the

         14  City?

         15                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Yes.  Most of them in

         16  Manhattan.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Of the 1,200,

         18  those are the 600 plans that were submitted,

         19  correct?

         20                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Yes, they have been

         21  submitted already, and the other 600 will have to

         22  comply over time.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Is there a

         24  deadline for the rest of them?

         25                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  The deadline was
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          2  determined by how many we could handle at one time.

          3  So what we took in originally was the landmark

          4  buildings and the highest buildings had to comply.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you,

          6  Chief.  Having no further question from any of my

          7  colleagues, the Committee's objective in getting a

          8  perspective from the Fire Department in terms of the

          9  fire safety and fire prevention plan, obviously, the

         10  summertime there is always a risk in our City of

         11  fire.  It's now in the wintertime because of the

         12  issues of the Christmas trees and candles.  In the

         13  summertime it may be issues of overloading our

         14  electrical jacks, and so forth either with the fans

         15  and the air conditioning.

         16                 We definitely want to make sure here

         17  at this Council that, one, that the Fire Department

         18  has the equipment and resources it needs to get the

         19  word out to our communities, and two, to ensure that

         20  we have everything in place possible to prevent

         21  fires and to have an educated citizenry throughout

         22  the City of New York that understands and is

         23  educated on fire prevention.  And at the same time,

         24  to make sure that if there's anything that we can do

         25  as a legislative body to get the resources to the
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          2  Department to further those efforts, we definitely

          3  look forward to that collaboration with the Fire

          4  Department.

          5                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  We appreciate it.

          6  Also, please share with the other members of the

          7  Council if they have any areas in their districts

          8  that they think would benefit from some of these

          9  programs, please contact us, and we would more than

         10  willing to help them out.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Council Member

         12  Vacca?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  I think also

         14  what's important is to expound upon what our

         15  Chairman just indicated, is that we have local City

         16  Council offices in the community.  We know that you

         17  need eyes and ears, and you also need foot soldiers

         18  sometimes to go out and do work and to give out

         19  information, so I'm sure when I speak for my

         20  colleagues when we say that we want our offices also

         21  to work in conjunction with yours to get the word

         22  out.  I know in my borough in the Bronx we're

         23  especially concerned, and anything that we can do

         24  you feel free to call upon us too.

         25                 CHIEF MCNALLY:  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you,

          3  Chief, and both Council Member Brewer, I'm sure, and

          4  I will be working and reaching out to you so that we

          5  could clarify some of the issues you've highlighted

          6  on both bills that we've presented today.  Thank

          7  you.           We'll call on our next panel.

          8  Lieutenant Eddie Boles from the UFOA Local #854.

          9  Please identify yourself for the record.

         10                 LT. BOLES:  Good afternoon, Chairman

         11  Martinez, Members of the Fire and Criminal Justice

         12  Services and to Council Member Brewer for her

         13  initiative in regards to the resolution.  My name is

         14  Lieutenant Eddie Boles, and I'm here on behalf of

         15  Peter Gorman, President of the Uniformed Fire

         16  Officers Association, representing the Lieutenants,

         17  Captains, Battalion Chiefs, Deputy Chiefs, Medical

         18  Officers and Supervising Fire Marshals of the FDNY.

         19                 I want to also recognize fellow

         20  Executive Board Member James McGowan, and I would

         21  like to recognize members of our Department that are

         22  here that are from the area where the last fatal

         23  fire occurred in August where our members valiantly

         24  fought that fire.  They're here also in support of

         25  the initiative that's being done here at City
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          2  Council, so I would like to welcome them also.

          3                 On September 21st, I testified at a

          4  Housing and Building Committee hearing with a heavy

          5  heart in the aftermath of burying two of my fellow

          6  firefighters after the Bronx fatal fire in August.

          7  Today I testify before you with a feeling of

          8  optimism and hope.  Almost immediately after the

          9  fatal fire in the Bronx that took the lives of

         10  Lieutenant Howard Carpluk of Engine 42 and

         11  Probationary Firefighter Michael Reilly of Engine

         12  75, both Peter Gorman and I received phone calls

         13  from Speaker Quinn and Council Member Martinez.

         14  They called not only to offer their condolences to

         15  us and the families of our fallen members, but they

         16  immediately offered their assistance, and we are

         17  deeply appreciative of that.

         18                 Their words were followed by action.

         19  The Speaker and Council Member Martinez visited the

         20  affected fire companies to gain a keener perspective

         21  of the events that transpired that horrific day.

         22  During their visit it was obvious that their

         23  conversation with the firefighters and fire

         24  officers, some of them our tenants today, and their

         25  viewing of the fire location that something needed
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          2  to be done to address some of the current flaws that

          3  exist in building renovations and alterations in New

          4  York City.

          5                 After the tragic loss of so many

          6  young lives in the recent fire in High Bridge in the

          7  Bronx, the Speaker and members of the City Council

          8  again took a leading role in visiting the site,

          9  offering families their assistance and formulating

         10  ideas on preventing such tragic events in the

         11  future.

         12                 I wish on a side note, I am

         13  appreciative of several of the Council Members, not

         14  just the two I indicated, but there are several here

         15  on this Board that reached out to us after the

         16  aftermath of the fatal fire, but also for their

         17  input after the High Bridge fire, which I thought

         18  was very beneficial.

         19                 We applaud the foresight and the

         20  initiative of the Speaker and the City Council to

         21  address some of these problems. Recently, Steven

         22  Greenhouse of the New York Times wrote a report

         23  about a study conducted by the Fiscal Policy

         24  Institute, which revealed the widespread illegal

         25  practices in New York City's residential
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          2  construction industry.  A majority of the deadly

          3  fires our members face, and the majority of civilian

          4  fatalities in New York City, are in residential

          5  occupancies.  With the volume of residential

          6  construction continuing to escalate, and with many

          7  former commercial occupancies being converted to

          8  residential occupancies, it is imperative that our

          9  City's agencies are more vigilant in monitoring the

         10  construction and alterations that are being done

         11  correctly in accordance with proper Building and

         12  Fire Codes.

         13                 The work that the City Council and

         14  staff are doing is to be commended, starting with

         15  Council Member Chair Dilan and his Housing and

         16  Building Committee, which addressed some of the

         17  pitfalls of the self- certification program, and who

         18  were instrumental in having Resolutions 308A and

         19  309A signed into law in February of this year should

         20  be duly acknowledged.

         21                 Now today, with Intro 496 and 553

         22  being presented by Council Chair Martinez and his

         23  Committee, the legislative process of improving the

         24  existing laws that monitor construction and

         25  alterations are further enhanced.  We are especially
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          2  pleased with Intro 553, which will provide greater

          3  cooperation between the Department of Buildings and

          4  the FDNY when issuing permits for any alteration

          5  that changes the Certificate of Occupancy.  This

          6  involvement in the permit process by the FDNY will

          7  provide its Department an opportunity to be involved

          8  in this construction alteration process in its early

          9  stages and allows the field units to inspect these

         10  alterations throughout the construction phases.

         11                 Additionally, having both agencies

         12  more actively involved in the issuance of these

         13  permits helps cultivate a working relationship and

         14  dialogue that can only improve building construction

         15  in this City.

         16                 As was pointed out by Chief McNally,

         17  it is extremely important that that information is

         18  readily filtered down to the field units, so the

         19  field units are able to use that information when

         20  responding to any occupancy that might have had an

         21  alteration or rehab.

         22                 We would like to also compliment the

         23  Committee on addressing FDNY's fire prevention and

         24  safety education efforts. The key to reducing fires

         25  and saving lives is for the FDNY, in cooperation

                                                            56

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  with all agencies, including the Board of Education,

          3  which was mentioned earlier, to continue its

          4  outreach in the community.  Every person who lives

          5  in this City needs to be made aware of the dangers

          6  of fire, how to prevent fires and what needs to be

          7  done in a fire or in an emergency.  This education

          8  needs to be continual and ingrained in everyone's

          9  mind just like the importance of wearing a seatbelt

         10  in automobiles.

         11                 In closing, I would like to state

         12  that the UFOA appreciates the understanding and the

         13  leadership of the Speaker and the City Council that

         14  possess on the issues faced by our members. The UFOA

         15  appreciates the working relationship that exists

         16  between the City Council and our union, a

         17  relationship that recognizes the importance of

         18  working together to accomplish positive results.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you.

         20  You have additional testimony?

         21                 MR. BAZEL:  I do not now, Councilman.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you.  I

         23  want to call on Council Member Jimmy Vacca for a

         24  question.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  I first want
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          2  to thank you for everything, for all the bravery of

          3  your people every day and the lives you save.  When

          4  you mention the key to fighting fires, time and time

          5  again I am reminded of the reality that if people

          6  check the batteries in their smoke detectors and

          7  check the batteries in their carbon monoxide

          8  detectors to make sure that they work, if they

          9  looked where they had frayed wiring extension cords,

         10  this would be very, very important.  Now, the Fire

         11  Department reaches out.  We have various things

         12  we're told.  When we change our clocks, change your

         13  smoke detector batteries, but what have you found in

         14  the field?  Have you found when you are fighting

         15  fires, especially in the Bronx, do you find that

         16  people have smoke detectors?  And then if they do,

         17  are they in working order?  Or do you think that

         18  that's a greater problem than we may realize?

         19                 LT. BOLES:  Well, there is a variety

         20  of issues that we encounter, and we are in the

         21  business of not only saving lives, but we're also in

         22  the business of responding any time a citizen needs

         23  assistance.  When we respond, a lot of our responses

         24  these days are emergency, and we go into these

         25  apartments.  Right now, field units are not allowed
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          2  to go into individual occupancies, apartments, say,

          3  for example, an apartment, unless we're called in

          4  because of an emergency or a complaint.

          5                 It's at that time where we start to

          6  view some of the things that you're talking about.

          7  Maybe they took the battery out because every time

          8  they cook, the alarm goes off, so the battery is

          9  missing.  Or we hear a chirping noise, and we know

         10  that's an indication that it's time to change the

         11  battery in the CO, or the smoker detector.  Or we

         12  see power strips not being used where there's

         13  multiple plugs into one jack, which could be a

         14  problem.

         15                 So we encounter a lot of those

         16  problems, and part of us going into those

         17  occupancies is we alert the occupant and we tell

         18  them, you know, you need to put a battery in your

         19  smoker detector.  Hey, do you know you're

         20  overloading the electrical jack. So these are things

         21  that are done on a constant basis.

         22                 Also, the education is ongoing

         23  because we have kids all the time.  The firehouse is

         24  part of the community.  Kids come in all the time.

         25  Adults come in all the time asking questions.  We
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          2  have children, and we have classes come into the

          3  firehouses for fire safety education.  We have our

          4  units going out to schools, going out to community

          5  centers, going out to daycare centers, going to

          6  summer camps, providing that same information.

          7                 So it's an ongoing process, but it

          8  needs to be expanded.  I am encouraged to hear the

          9  Department is trying to expand that.  But as I said

         10  in my testimony, it's important that all agencies

         11  get involved, that the Board of Education, maybe

         12  they should include a curriculum that has fire

         13  safety education.  I know it's part of the health

         14  curriculum, but how often is it taught?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you,

         18  Council Member Vacca.  Thank you for your testimony.

         19    I also want to echo Council Member Vacca's words

         20  of appreciation for your services, and again, I want

         21  to thank the members of the firehouse that are here

         22  joining us for educating us on the issues of the

         23  need for more communication, being accessible to

         24  firefighters before they respond and actually go

         25  into a structure where there is a fire, so again,
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          2  thank you, and welcome here to City Hall.

          3                 LT. BOLES:  Just as an ending

          4  statement, you did say, if there's anything the City

          5  Council could provide the Fire Department in regards

          6  to resources and budget time is coming, so please

          7  take that into consideration and not cut our budget.

          8    Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you.  At

         10  this time, we call Ms. Holly Ferguson from Community

         11  Board Eight.  I want to recognize another member of

         12  the Committee who has joined us, Council Member Alan

         13  Gerson from Manhattan.

         14                 MS. FERGUSON:  How do you do,

         15  gentlemen?  First of all, my name is Holly, not

         16  Halley.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  I'm sorry,

         18  what was that?

         19                 MS. FERGUSON:  I'm Holly, remember?

         20  Holly Fuchs Ferguson, and you're the wonderful

         21  Miguel Martinez, so how could you --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you.

         23  Sorry about that.

         24                 MS. FERGUSON:  It is such a pleasure

         25  to come here and say that I really am totally in
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          2  favor of these local laws.  I am so sorry that we

          3  have to even promote some of these things. It's

          4  unfortunate that we need to file floor plans for

          5  small buildings, but with the proliferation of so

          6  many houses of two and three units in Brooklyn that

          7  I believe many will be converted into double that

          8  amount silently, this type of law is absolutely

          9  necessary.

         10                 We also need education, and I have to

         11  say I'm very happy to have the Lieutenant emphasize

         12  education.  Over 90 percent of all fires are

         13  avoidable with proper respect for fire and with the

         14  knowledge of what to do to avoid fire and what to do

         15  in case there is fire.  So this leads to the obvious

         16  conclusion that public education is a real

         17  necessity, and, by the way, so is driver education

         18  on the road.  The City Council can make a difference

         19  by promoting fire safety in the schools, I think

         20  twice a year.  The FDNY suggested once a year.  I

         21  think you need twice.  Also, by promoting proper

         22  rules of the road for emergency vehicles using the

         23  media and your own bully pulpit.

         24                 Regarding school education, the fatal

         25  fires in February, 2006 in Brooklyn and in the
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          2  Bronx, March 2007, lives could have been saved if

          3  the people there had any knowledge of fire safety.

          4                 Driver education.  In March, 2007 a

          5  woman drove into a fire truck in Crown Heights on

          6  Brooklyn Avenue and President Street.  She didn't

          7  know what to do, and she panicked.  About 25 years

          8  ago, a fire in a six- story limestore and brick

          9  apartment in Crown Heights on Brooklyn Avenue again

         10  and Prospect Place burned because cars on Brooklyn

         11  Avenue stayed put.  They didn't know what to do.  So

         12  we need driver education, as well as public school

         13  education.

         14                 The Red Cross and the FDNY have teams

         15  ready to teach.  The schools needs to use those

         16  resources, and the City Council and the Mayor have a

         17  bully pulpit, and the NYPD to teach drivers what to

         18  do with emergency vehicles, either through sweet

         19  persuasion or tickets.

         20                 And, of course, the FDNY needs to

         21  budget for more fire marshals, more firefighters and

         22  the re- opening of the firehouses.  Why should the

         23  City give back over $1 billion in tax benefits when

         24  part of that money can be used to make the City

         25  safer against fire?  Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  The Committee

          3  wants to recognize Council Member Gentile, who has

          4  joined us.  There is no vote, sir, but thank you for

          5  joining the Committee.  Meeting adjourned.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 2:15 p.m.)
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          9                 I, DEBORAH RICHARDS, do hereby

         10  certify that the foregoing is a true and accurate

         11  transcript of the within proceeding.
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